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EXPLANATORY NOTE

Vital Images, Inc. (the Company ) is filing this Amendment No. 2 to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002,
which was originally filed March 28, 2003 and amended by Amendment No. 1 filed on September 23, 2003 (collectively, the Form 10-K ),
principally to amend specific items of the Form 10-K to reflect: (1) the change in classification of certain customer support costs, which had
previously been reported as a sales and marketing expense rather than as cost of revenue  maintenance and services, and (2) the change in
classification of amortization expense related to technology licensed from a third party, which had, prior to the third quarter of 2003, been
reported as research and development expense rather than as cost of revenue- license fees. In addition, the Company has enhanced certain
previously included disclosures regarding accounting policies related to revenue recognition. The changes in classification had no effect on the
Company s previously reported revenue, operating income, net income (loss) or net income (loss) per share, nor did the changes in classifications
affect the Company s balance sheets or statements of shareholders equity and cash flows. This Amendment No. 2 amends only the portions of the
Form 10-K set forth herein; the remainder of the Form 10-K is unchanged and is not reproduced in this Amendment No. 2. This Amendment No.
2 does not reflect events occurring after the original filing of the Form 10-K.

This Amendment No. 2 contains changes to the following disclosures:

PartI Item 1. Business
Maintenance and Support
Employees
Part II - Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Part IT - Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Part IT - Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  Vital Images, Inc. Statements of Operations
Part II- Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data- Notes to Financial Statements
Note 2- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies- Revenue Recognition
Note 10- Licensed Technology
Note 14 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Part IV - Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements Schedules and Reports on Form §-K
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Item 1. BUSINESS

Vital Images, Inc. ( Vital Images orthe Company ) was incorporated in lowa in September 1988. In March 1997, the Company re-incorporated
under the laws of the state of Minnesota. The Company s principal executive offices are located at 3300 Fernbrook Lane N., Suite 200,

Plymouth, MN 55447 (telephone (763) 852-4100, facsimile (763) 852-4110, e-mail info@vitalimages.com ). From May 24, 1994 through

May 11, 1997, the Company was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bio-Vascular, Inc. ( Bio-Vascular ), now known as Synovis Life Technologies,
Inc..

The Company files annual reports, quarterly reports, proxy statements, and other documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act). The public may read and copy any materials that the company files with the
SEC at the SEC s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street N.-W., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet website that contains
reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers, including the company, that file electronically with the SEC.
The public can obtain any documents that the company files with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.

The Company also makes available free of charge through its Internet website (http://www.vitalimages.com) the Company s Annual Report on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and, if applicable, amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after the Company electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the
SEC.

Business Description

Vital Images develops, markets and supports 3D medical imaging software for use primarily in disease screening, clinical diagnosis and therapy
planning. The Company s software applies proprietary computer graphics and image processing technologies to a wide variety of data supplied

by computed tomography ( CT ) scanners and magnetic resonance ( MR ) imaging devices. Vital Images products allow clinicians to create both
two- and three-dimensional views of human anatomy and to non-invasively navigate within these images to better visualize and understand

internal structures and pathologies. The Company believes that its high-speed visualization technology and customized protocols

cost-effectively bring 3D visualization and analysis into the routine, day-to-day practice of medicine. The Company, which operates in a single
business segment, markets its products to healthcare providers and to manufacturers of diagnostic imaging systems through a direct sales force

in the United States and independent distributors in international markets.

Vitrea®, Vital Images advanced 3D medical imaging product for radiological and surgical applications, received FDA
clearance in November 1996 and was released for sale in October 1997. Due to its speed and ease-of-use,
management believes that Vitrea was the first 3D medical imaging product with the ability to appeal primarily to the
clinical market. Historically, 3D medical imaging software was slow, difficult to use, and operated only on expensive
workstations. Consequently, the functionality of such software was appealing only for research applications. The
Company s Vitrea software combined speed with ease-of-use to enable a physician to access, manipulate and analyze
3D images, typically in less than five to ten minutes. The Company has released several updates to Vitrea each year,
and in February 2003 released Vitrea 2 Version 3.2, which has improved quality, reliability and usability features to
meet the diagnostic and treatment planning needs of busy radiology departments. The Company offers Vitrea 2 both
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as an integrated software and hardware system, consisting of Vitrea 2 software installed on a computer workstation,
and as a stand-alone software package. To date, the Company has licensed over 850 copies of Vitrea and Vitrea 2 to
hospitals, clinics, imaging centers and other sites, including 14 of the nation s top 17 hospitals.

The Company believes that growing acceptance of 3D medical imaging offers Vital Images numerous market expansion opportunities.
Research and development efforts are currently focused on using the Company s base of visualization technology to expand to other imaging
modalities, such as x-ray angiography, as well as




Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K/A

expanding the features and functions in the current modalities. Vital Images is also developing 3D medical imaging software tools for
less-invasive screening applications, such as CT colonography for colon cancer screening, surgical planning, intra-operative visualization and
real-time interventional 3D visualization.

The Company has a marketing and distribution agreement with Toshiba Corporation, Medical Systems Company ( Toshiba ), which names Vitrea
2 as Toshiba s primary 3D software for use with their CT scanners in the United States and in more than 50 countries in North and South

America, Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Australia and Asia, except Japan. The agreement runs through September 30, 2003. Sales by the
Company to Toshiba accounted for approximately 34%, 27% and 27% of the Company s total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. See Business Marketing and Distribution and  Dependence on Major Customers.

The diagnostic medical imaging market continues to expand both its geographic boundaries and its definitive boundaries. Long defined as the
market for CT, MR, ultrasound and other imaging modalities, the diagnostic imaging market has grown to include both picture archive and
communications systems ( PACS ) and 3D imaging systems, which have become integral technologies for many radiology practices around the
world.

According to Frost & Sullivan, the estimated U.S. market for 3D diagnostic imaging was $398 million in 2002 and will grow to over $1 billion
by 2008, a compound annual growth rate of approximately 20%. Today, only a minority of hospitals, clinics and imaging centers use 3D
medical imaging products in diagnostic imaging. Recent technological advances in both computer hardware and software development have
dramatically improved the cost-to-performance ratio, bringing the prices for 3D medical imaging products into the reach of most healthcare
providers. In addition, increasing clinical awareness, improving utility of applications and an exponential increase in CT slice volumes are
driving demand for 3D medical imaging products.

Based on an increasing number of 3D procedures being performed as a result of the growing use of imaging technology, new 3D screening
procedures and broader acceptance of 3D applications, Vital Images estimates that the potential worldwide market for 3D medical imaging
software and workstations, including the U.S. market, will grow to $2 billion in less than five years.

Technology

The two core technologies underlying the Company s products are customized protocols, which make Vitrea 2 simple to use, and a visualization
technique known as volume rendering. A feature critical to Vitrea 2 s speed and ease-of-use are its customized protocols, which provide
automated 2D and 3D renderings of scanner data, optimized for individual clinical applications. Vital Images engineers and clinical
collaborators have selected specific views for each type of exam Vitrea 2 supports in order to provide immediate, useful 2D and 3D views for
the user. After the selected patient data has been retrieved, Vitrea 2 provides the clinician with up to six views with all visualization parameters
pre-set for the specific type of clinical exam. The visualization settings for these views are stored in Vitrea 2 s software and are automatically
and adaptively applied to each patient study, optimizing the views displayed. By applying this proprietary protocol technique, the system
anticipates the clinician s needs and provides immediately useful views of the patient data. The use of customized protocols automates the
complex and time-consuming approaches inherent in many competing 3D medical imaging products and eliminates the need for the user to be
proficient in operating complex graphics programs. The Company has been issued Patent No. 5,986,662 from the U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office for its mechanism for automated protocol selection, Patent No. 6,130,671 for the mechanism to calculate simulated lighting in 3D images
and Patent No. 6,219,059 for the user interface and mechanism used to control the relative transparency of 3D data in volume renderings of
medical images.
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Volume rendering is an advanced technique for displaying three-dimensional views on a computer monitor that the Company believes has
significant advantages over the alternative technique, known as surface rendering. Volume rendering permits the direct display of all of the
imaging data without mathematical modeling and allows interactive control of the level of transparency of the data. By comparison, surface
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rendering requires the creation of artificial surfaces based on selected imaging data, and the usefulness of the resulting visual image is largely
dependent on where these surfaces are set by the clinical technician. Volume rendering is not dependent on the creation of artificial surfaces and
allows visualization of varying components that might otherwise be eliminated from a surface rendered image due to surface approximation.
Because volume rendering uses all of the data and information collected by the imaging equipment, the Company believes visualization

processes that use volume rendering provide clinicians with better images to define and display pathology and anatomy in a more useful manner.

Until the last several years, most medical imaging companies largely overlooked volume rendering because the computer power necessary to
perform volume rendering was significantly more expensive and intensive than the requirements for surface rendering. The Company s
experience with volume rendering has its basis in the efforts of Vincent J. Argiro, Ph.D., the founder of the Company, who developed
three-dimensional visualization software using volume rendering as an aid in his research in developmental neuroscience. Dr. Argiro focused on
accelerating the performance of volume rendering on standard computer platforms. As a result of his work, he developed expertise in
accelerated volume rendering, which forms the core of the Company s volume rendering technology. Because the performance of standard
computer platforms has increased while the relative cost of such performance has decreased, the Company believes that volume rendering has
become a more accessible imaging solution for routine clinical applications.

The Company believes the combination of customized protocols and accelerated volume rendering offered by Vitrea 2, together with improved
computer performance, allows it to deliver a simple, fast and affordable 3D medical imaging product.

Industry Background

Medical practices in the areas of diagnostic imaging, surgery and cancer treatment have changed dramatically over the past 20 years, due in part
to the introduction of a variety of new imaging, visualization, analysis, computer, networking, catheter and navigation technologies. The result
has been the rapid adoption and increased use of CT and MR scanners and the incorporation of new physician-care practices based on the
imaging information provided by these devices.

Both of these imaging technologies capture data that provide a physician with a graphical representation of the inside of the human body. These
images have traditionally been viewed as a series of two-dimensional, cross-sectional slices on x-ray-type film. As computer processing speed
increased, software performance improved and networking technologies developed, manufacturers of scanning equipment began offering
integrated systems that allowed clinicians to view, analyze and manipulate these medical images in a digital environment. These systems first
visualized individual slices, or pictures, on a computer monitor and later provided views of multiple slices. More recently, medical imaging
systems began to permit viewing and manipulation of large, multiple slice data sets as a single, three-dimensional image on a computer
workstation. Today, the 3D medical imaging industry involves the creation, visualization, manipulation, analysis and communication of medical
images in two, three and four dimensions.

Initially, the 3D medical imaging industry and the markets for 3D medical imaging products lagged the market for imaging devices due to the
lack of industry standards for the generation, transmission and storage of medical imaging data and due to computer costs and performance
considerations. After a time, many of the technical and cost barriers to growth in the 3D medical imaging industry and the PACS industry began
to erode. In particular, the medical industry embraced an image transmission and archiving standard called DICOM, promulgated by the
American College of Radiology and the National Electronic Manufacturer s Association. This standard permits imaging, visualization,
networking and archiving systems from different vendors to work cooperatively within a single network. In addition, the cost-to-performance
ratio of computer products used in visualization and PACS has improved dramatically, bringing the prices for 3D medical imaging capabilities
and PACS within the grasp of most healthcare providers. The Company believes that the



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K/A

10



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K/A

acceptance of industry standards such as DICOM and the improvements in the cost-to-performance ratio for clinical workstations will support
continued market growth in the 3D medical imaging and PACS industries.

Vital Images also expects that a number of other advantages of 3D medical imaging products will support growth in the 3D medical imaging
industry:

Recent technology improvements in CT and MR scanners enable them to generate an increasing number of
slices per exam, resulting in over 2,000 images, which is more than 15 times as many images as the same study less
than five years ago. This makes the viewing of printed images on x-ray film, rather than in a medical imaging system,
logistically impractical and expensive.

The number of planning procedures is growing. Physicians are increasingly recognizing the clinical value
of 3D imaging. In addition, the Baby Boom generation has a strong interest in screening procedures for the early
detection of cancer and heart disease. Accordingly, these factors are driving a demand for an increased number of
scanning procedures.

Driven by a shortage of radiologists, hospital radiology departments are under pressure to perform as
efficiently as possible. Thus an increased workload must be completed with the same or fewer people. Speed in
interpreting images is essential for increasing workflow productivity. Thus, there is a clear need for a fast and
efficient integrated 2D, 3D and 4D visualization tool. 4D is defined as 3D images showing changes over time such as
images of a beating heart.

Diagnoses based on 2D images, or slices, require the clinician to assemble a 3D view mentally to
understand the true anatomy and pathology. Given the industry pressure to produce cost-effective outcomes, 3D
imaging is a valuable tool for accelerating diagnoses, potentially eliminating unnecessary tests and treatment,
optimizing the use of minimally invasive surgery and therapies, and gaining additional insight needed for clinical
decisions.

Spatial relationships are of paramount importance in surgery, and 3D views displaying anatomy and
pathology can greatly aid in surgical planning. 3D medical imaging has the potential to promote improved surgical
outcomes by giving surgeons a better road map from which to plan their operative procedures. Interactive navigation
of volume data from scanners may also have the capability to spare patients from invasive procedures like endoscopy
or conventional angiography.

11
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Increased use of 3D medical imaging technology has the potential to enhance radiologists ability to
communicate their findings to fellow clinicians, referring physicians and patients. In addition, the integration of these
clinical disciplines through electronic visualization, networking and the Internet has the potential to provide the
opportunity for greater cross-discipline coordination due to increased speed, access to information and the resulting
ability to perform consultative, interactive planning and examination on computer workstations.

Markets

The Company participates in the rapidly growing 3D medical imaging market. The 3D medical imaging market also interrelates with a number
of other markets such as the diagnostic imaging equipment market, the PACS market and the hospital and clinical information systems markets.
3D medical imaging software and systems have application and/or potential in diagnostic screening and radiology, remote diagnosis and
consultation (e.g., telemedicine), surgical assessment, planning, navigation and follow-up, and radiation and chemotherapy treatment planning
and medical education. The customers for these applications include radiology, surgery and oncology departments, as well as other clinical
specialists, of hospitals and research centers, diagnostic imaging and screening centers, outpatient surgery centers, clinics and physician groups.

12
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The diagnostic medical imaging market continues to expand its boundaries. Long defined as the market for CT, MR, ultrasound and other
imaging modalities, the diagnostic imaging market has grown to include both PACS and 3D imaging systems, which have become integral
technologies for many radiology practices around the world.

According to Frost & Sullivan, the estimated U.S. market for 3D diagnostic imaging was $398 million in 2002 and will grow to over $1 billion
by 2008, a compound annual growth rate of approximately 20%. Today, only a minority of hospitals, clinics and imaging centers use 3D
medical imaging products in diagnostic imaging. Recent technological advances in both computer hardware and software development have
dramatically improved the cost-to-performance ratio, bringing the prices for 3D medical imaging products into the reach of most healthcare
providers. In addition, increasing clinical awareness, improving utility of applications and an exponential increase in CT slice volumes are
driving demand for 3D medical imaging products.

Based on an increasing number of 3D procedures being performed as a result of the growing use of imaging technology, new 3D screening
procedures and broader acceptance of 3D applications, Vital Images estimates that the potential worldwide market for 3D medical imaging
software and workstations, including the U.S. market, will grow to $2 billion in less than five years.

As discussed above, the overall market for 3D medical imaging software and systems is developing rapidly, as the related technology and
products that define this market are relatively new and undergoing rapid change. Medical imaging software and system solutions for diagnostic
radiology have existed for the last several years. The use of medical imaging software and systems to assist in surgical planning and navigation
has only begun to emerge in clinical practice in the last few years. While medical imaging software and systems have been used in these
applications and to support cancer treatment planning in the past, the Company believes that perspective, three-dimensional volume rendering
represents an underutilized resource to practitioners for diagnostic screening and radiology, surgical planning and navigation and cancer
treatment planning.

Strategy

The Company s goal is to be a leading provider of 3D medical imaging software that improves clinical outcomes and reduces costs. To achieve
this goal, Vital Images intends to implement the following key strategies:

Develop and maintain leading-edge technology. The Company intends to continue its overall strategy of
developing and marketing leading-edge medical 3D medical imaging software for a variety of medical applications.
As part of this strategy, the Company will continue to improve the speed and performance of its Vitrea 2 software. In
particular, the Company will be focused on developing additional protocols that enhance the ease-of-use of Vitrea 2,
as well as increasing the number of platforms on which Vitrea 2 will operate.

Further develop applications for the Company s 3D medical imaging technology. The Company intends to
leverage its core competencies in volume rendering, computer graphics and clinical applications. The Company plans

to develop and offer a full range of 3D medical imaging software tools for disease screening, radiological diagnosis,
therapy planning and intra-operative visualization. The Company believes that significant new opportunities exist for

13
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the application of its innovative technologies for the diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular disease, cancer and
orthopedics.

Further penetrate the 3D medical imaging market. The Company intends to expand its sales and marketing
staff and increase its marketing efforts in order to continue building momentum for the acceptance and purchase of
Vitrea 2 and its other products. A key challenge for the Company involves reaching and educating physicians and
clinicians as to the benefits of the Vitrea 2 software. By convincing the ultimate users of the benefits of its system, the
Company

14
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believes that it can successfully influence purchasing decisions for medical institutions purchasing or upgrading their imaging technology. In
addition, the Company will work to expand its appeal by implementing additional 2D capability as well as ensuring that its technology will
easily integrate into hospital networks.

Continue to seek collaborative partnerships with leading medical institutions. The Company has
historically sought out and developed collaborative relationships with several prestigious medical institutions to

develop and test the Company s visualization tools. The Company will continue to pursue collaborations to focus on
developing products that will improve clinical outcomes and reduce costs for the practices of medical imaging and

surgery.

Continue to seek collaborative partnerships with leading medical technology companies. In addition to
collaborations with medical institutions, the Company intends to selectively pursue relationships with leading medical

technology companies to expand the Company s clinical, distribution, financial and/or technical capability for its 3D
medical imaging software products. Examples of such relationships include the Company s development, marketing
and/or distribution agreements with Toshiba Corporation, Medical Systems Group ( Toshiba ); the Surgical Navigation
Technologies division of Medtronic, Inc.; E-Z-EM, Inc.; and R2 Technology, Inc. ( R2 ). See Business-Marketing and
Distribution, Intellectual Property and  Manufacturing and Service.

Products and Product Development

Vitrea. In December 1995, the Company assessed its business strategy and determined that to optimize its dedicated
participation in the medical field, it needed to create a new product for direct clinical application. The objective for
this new product effort was to produce an easy-to-use clinical software tool to allow radiologists and other clinicians
to use two- and three-dimensional visualization in their routine clinical processes. Unlike its predecessor software,
VoxelView®, the Company set out to design this new software product for users with clinical knowledge rather than
computer graphics expertise. Specifications for this new product, called Vitrea, were developed in early 1996, with
software development beginning in late spring of that year. The Company submitted 510(k) documentation in
September 1996 for Vitrea and was granted marketing clearance by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the FDA )
in November 1996 for use as a clinical diagnostic and surgical planning device when used with CT and MR medical
imaging data. Vitrea was first released for sale to customers in October 1997. In December 1999, the Company
released Vitrea 2, a Microsoft® Windows N'T compatible version of its Vitrea software for 2D/3D visualization and
analysis of medical image data. Vitrea 2 was Vital Images first 3D-volume medical imaging software product
available for the Microsoft Windows operating system and provides the speed and ease-of-use the medical community
demands for diagnosis and treatment planning in a clinical environment. In February 2003, the Company released
Vitrea 2 Version 3.2, which has improved quality, reliability and usability features to meet the diagnostic and
treatment planning needs of busy radiology departments and operates on the Microsoft Windows XP operating
system.

15
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Vitrea 2 capitalizes on the Company s experience in 3D medical imaging and provides clinicians with an easy-to-use
tool for disease screening, radiological diagnosis and therapy planning. It represents the Company s most important
step to date as a provider of a range of clinical tools for broad distribution to the 3D medical imaging market. Vitrea
2 s primary features are its high-speed rendering capability and the ability to provide two- and three-dimensional
viewing for routine diagnosis and therapy planning, without requiring the user to be trained in computer graphics
techniques. The Company believes that both of these features - speed and ease-of-use - now make it possible to use
three-dimensional medical imaging in daily clinical routines. A Vitrea 2 user, following a built-in clinical workflow,
can view the image data in two, three or four dimensions using visualization settings based on specific clinical
applications stored within the system as dedicated visualization protocols. The user may then interactively navigate
around, or fly through, the image to view clinically relevant anatomies and pathologies. Vitrea 2 software also allows
the user to capture views by

16
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taking snapshots, which can be integrated into customized reports for electronic transmission and archiving through a DICOM network or sent to
another location via the Internet.

Vitrea 2 software conforms to the latest medical imaging and computer industry standards, such as OpenGL computer
graphics application programming interface (API) and DICOM.

The Company offers Vitrea 2 primarily as an integrated software and hardware system, consisting of Vitrea 2 software installed on a personal
computer ( PC ). Pursuant to purchasing arrangements between the Company and computer resellers, the Company purchases personal computers
at a nominal discount, installs its Vitrea 2 software, and markets the package as an integrated 3D medical imaging solution, thereby

implementing the Company s strategy to develop, market, sell and support an integrated 3D medical imaging workstation. Currently, Vitrea 2
operates on PC workstations from Omni Tech, Inc., Hewlett-Packard Company and Dell Computer Corporation. The Company also sells

software licenses without the related workstation hardware. The list price for a base model integrated workstation and software package is
approximately $99,000, and the list price for the Vitrea 2 software without a workstation is approximately $81,000.

In addition to its immediate clinical applications, Vitrea 2 software incorporates a number of additional technological advances, thereby making
it adaptable to routine clinical use in surgical navigation and cancer treatment planning and for integration into diagnostic imaging equipment
manufactured by other companies. In particular, Vitrea 2 software was written using advanced programming techniques, a modular,
object-oriented design, C++ programming language, and a shared messaging structure. The Company believes these characteristics make it
practical to modify Vitrea 2 software to suit the clinical needs of surgical navigation and oncology, as well as allowing diagnostic equipment
manufacturers to integrate Vitrea 2 software or its components into imaging system consoles and off-line review stations, thereby providing the
Company with the opportunity to leverage the Vitrea 2 software development investment into new commercial areas.

Software options. In addition to Vitrea 2, the Company has developed a number of value-added software options that
work with the base Vitrea 2 software platform. These options provide a variety of clinical information and have list
prices ranging from $20,000 to $50,000 each.

VScore . In August 1999, the Company introduced its VScore software for coronary artery calcium scoring. The
VScore software product was the Company s first add-on option to the Company s Vitrea 2 3D medical imaging
software product. The VScore option adds the functionality to non-invasively quantify calcium in the four major
coronary arteries using CT image data. In August 2000, the Company introduced VScore with EKG Gate™, which
allows physicians and technologists to select the images with the least amount of motion by matching the EKG signal
with the images. In February 2001, the Company introduced VScore with AutoGate™, which allows users to create
high quality cardiac images using existing helical CT scanners without the use of EKG recording devices.

CT Brain Perfusion. In October 2001, the Company introduced its CT Brain Perfusion software option to assist
radiologists in analyzing blood flow of stroke victims where the speed of diagnosis and treatment is often the primary
factor in determining the extent of recovery.

17
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CT Colonography. In October 2001, the Company introduced its CT Colonography software option, which generates
two- and three-dimensional images of the entire colon, increasing the speed and ease of locating and analyzing
polyps. The option provides a less invasive, more comfortable diagnostic procedure than previously possible,
improving patient compliance for screening

Automated Vessel Measurements. In October 2001, the Company introduced its Automated Vessel Measurements software
option to assist physicians in characterizing the course and dimensions of diseased blood vessels. The Automated
Vessel Measurements option is designed to support activities such as pre-surgical diagnosis, evaluation and stent
planning in the abdominal aorta, carotid arteries, coronary arteries and renal arteries.

10
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CT Cardiac. In February 2003, the Company introduced its CT Cardiac software option, which defines the coronary
anatomy and the degree of luminal obstruction of the coronary arteries. It is commonly used to determine the extent
of obstructive coronary artery disease and to assess the feasibility and appropriateness of various forms of therapy or
surgical interventions.

Maintenance and Support. In addition to its system and software products, the Company also offers maintenance and
support services to its customers, as well as certain other services such as installation and training. In connection with
the licensing of Vitrea 2 software, the Company markets annual maintenance services for both Vitrea 2 software and
the integrated Vitrea 2 system, pursuant to which the Company provides software updates, minor feature
enhancements, error correction, telephone support and general maintenance services for an annual fee of
approximately $7,000. Outside of these maintenance services, the Company is required by FDA regulations to
provide certain levels of support to end users as a result of the use of its products as medical devices. Maintenance
services currently marketed by the Company do not include installation, training and other services, whether on- or
off-site, as such services are charged separately by the Company.

License fees accounted for 67%, 66% and 66% of total revenue in each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Maintenance and services comprised 19%, 16% and 13% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, while hardware sales accounted for 14%, 18% and 21% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

The Company expensed $4,143,000, $3,359,000 and $3,036,000 incurred in its research and development efforts in each of the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Collaborative Relationships

Vital Images has formed collaboration relationships with some of the leading universities and physicians in medicine and medical imaging to
develop what it believes to be the most innovative and clinically relevant medical imaging solutions. Vital Images has entered into clinical
collaboration agreements with universities and physicians to:

Identify new clinical applications where 3D medical imaging can improve clinical outcomes and reduce
Ccosts;

Develop clinical routines that incorporate Vital Images 3D medical imaging software in normal diagnostic,
screening and therapy planning practices;
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Develop new features that facilitate and improve diagnosis and therapy planning for Vital Images future
products;

Assess the clinical value of Vital Images 3D medical imaging software for given applications; and

Develop automated rendering protocols for 3D CT or MR data.

The following universities and institutions have entered into agreements with Vital Images for the purpose of forming collaborative
relationships:

UCLA Medical Center

Duke University Medical Center

University of lowa Hospital and Clinics

Mallinckrodt Institute of Radiology at the Washington University School of Medicine

11
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University of Minnesota-Fairview University Medical Center

Northwestern University Medical Center

Massachusetts General Hospital

Stanford University Medical Center

Yale University School of Medicine

The Company s agreements with its collaborative partners do not provide such collaborators with any ownership of technology developed by the
Company in connection with the collaboration and, with one exception, do not provide for the payment of any fees or royalties to such
collaborators. The Company was obligated to pay a royalty to the Stanford University Medical Center equal to 0.5% of the Company s software
license revenue from the sale of Vitrea and Vitrea 2 through September 2000.

Competition

The 3D medical imaging market is developing and growing rapidly. It is intensely competitive, subject to rapid change and significantly
affected by new product introductions and other market activities of industry participants. The Company s primary competitors are the various
diagnostic imaging system suppliers, which are typically large, multinational companies, having far greater financial and technical resources
than the Company. They also have well-established sales and distribution networks for their products. These companies, including GE Medical
Systems, Siemens Medical Systems, Inc. and Philips Medical Systems, are engaged in the business of developing and marketing medical
imaging systems, such as CT and MR equipment. These competitors offer 3D medical imaging capabilities integrated with their products in
addition to the 2D medical imaging capabilities typically provided as a part of the operator s console on the imaging equipment itself. This
medical imaging capability may be internally developed by these companies, or it may be licensed from independent vendors. In order to
compete effectively with these companies, Vital Images must convince customers to separate their purchasing decisions regarding the imaging
equipment itself from the selection and purchase of the 3D medical imaging workstations instead of purchasing an entire integrated system
manufactured by one entity. To a lesser extent, the Company also faces competition from other medical imaging systems and software
suppliers, PACS vendors, hospital, radiology and clinical system suppliers, and internal development projects sponsored by hospital radiology
departments.

Other medical imaging systems and software suppliers compete on the basis of volume rendering or other visualization technologies, specific

applications or market niches. Most of these suppliers, including Voxar Ltd., Viatronix, Inc. and TeraRecon, Inc., are smaller companies than
Vital Images. PACS companies sometimes provide medical imaging capability in addition to their image archiving and networking products.

Vendors of hospital, clinical and radiology information systems have also diversified into the PACS and medical imaging product lines, either
through internal development or business development. These companies, which may be large or small, attempt to offer an integrated system
covering a full range of administrative, clinical and radiology information management capabilities to healthcare providers. Finally, some
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research and university healthcare institutions may attempt to develop their own 3D medical imaging systems. These institutions have in the
past, and may in the future, attempt to secure FDA clearance for such systems and to license such systems or technology for general commercial
sale.

The Company s competitive strength is based on its ability to do the following:

Provide differentiated 3D medical imaging products that operate in multi-vendor network and image source
environments.

Provide clinical quality, three-dimensional images, volume rendered at high speed with interactive
navigation on a relatively low-cost standard computer.

Integrate clinical knowledge from its collaborative clinical partners into its products.

12
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Leverage its visualization technology across multiple clinical disciplines, including disease screening,
clinical diagnosis and therapy planning.

Offera DICOM client product, which can operate on any DICOM network, independent of the imaging
system and network provider.

Serve both original equipment manufacturers ( OEM ) and end-user customers through the development of a
modular end-user product that can easily be segmented for OEM customers.

The Company believes that product quality, performance, functionality and features, quality of support and service, reputation and price are also
important competitive factors. The Company believes that customers will prefer Vitrea 2 because it is simple, fast and affordable. While price
has been less significant than other factors, increasing competition in the 3D medical imaging market may result in price reductions and reduced
gross margins. In particular, should one or more of the diagnostic imaging system suppliers choose to provide or distribute more competitive
medical imaging products than those offered by the Company, the Company s business, financial condition and results of operations could be
materially adversely affected.

Marketing and Distribution

The Company markets Vitrea 2 both as a software package and as part of an integrated software and hardware system to radiologists, surgeons,
primary care physicians and medical researchers. The Company markets its products directly to end-user customers, such as hospitals and
clinics, as well as to select diagnostic imaging companies, digital imaging equipment manufacturers and PACS companies for resale as a Vital
Images branded product. In November 2001, the Company signed a joint venture agreement to work collaboratively on products and services in
image-guided surgery and surgical planning with the Surgical Navigation Technologies (SNT) division of Medtronic, Inc. Under this agreement,
the Company s advanced visualization technology will be integrated into Medtronic SNT s image-guided surgery products, and the two
companies will collaborate on new surgical planning software and service offerings. In October 2001, the Company signed an exclusive
agreement with E-Z-EM, Inc. to develop and distribute a dedicated CT colonography product. In September 2000, the Company signed a
marketing and distribution agreement with Toshiba America Medical Systems ( TAMS ), which named Vitrea 2 as TAMS primary 3D software
for use with their CT scanners in the United States. In February 2002, the Company announced that it had entered into a marketing and
distribution agreement with Toshiba Corporation, Medical Systems Company to offer Vitrea 2 to its subsidiaries and distributors, including
TAMS, in more than 50 countries in North and South America, Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Australia and Asia, except Japan. The
agreement ran through September 30, 2002. In January 2003, the Company announced that it had renewed the agreement through

September 30, 2003. See Business Dependence on Major Customers.

In addition, the Company markets its products directly to select OEMs on either a standard basis or, in the case of Medtronic SNT, a customized
basis. In connection with its OEM opportunities, the Company will either provide complete systems for resale by such OEMs or will provide
elements of its technology for incorporation into the products and systems of such OEMs.

The Company markets its products both domestically and internationally. In the United States, the Company markets its products through its
direct sales force as well as through OEMs and resellers. Internationally, the Company markets its products through OEMs and resellers. See
Note 8 to the Financial Statements - Major Customers and Geographic Data for information regarding the Company s export sales. As of
December 31, 2002, the Company had 20 direct salespeople in the U.S., one international reseller salesperson, one OEM customer and nine
international resellers.
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Customers and Customer Support

Through December 31, 2002, the Company has sold over 850 separate software licenses for Vitrea, Vitrea 2 and InnerviewGI for use in over 700
different sites, including hospitals, clinics, imaging centers and other

13
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sites. The Company s customers include America s most renowned hospitals, including the following 14 of the top 17 hospitals listed in U.S.
News and World Report s honor roll of top hospitals:

Johns Hopkins Hospital

Mayo Clinic

Cleveland Clinic

Massachusetts General Hospital

UCLA Medical Center

Duke University Medical Center

UCSF Medical Center

Barnes-Jewish Hospital

Brigham & Women s Hospital
University of Washington Medical Center
New York Presbyterian Hospital

Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania
Stanford University Hospital

University of Chicago Hospitals

In addition, the advantages of Vitrea 2 software simple, fast and affordable have also appealed to hospitals and clinics in smaller population
areas.

The Company is committed to rapid response to customer service requests. Customer support representatives are available during the Company s
business hours to answer questions about the operation, maintenance and repair of the Company s products.

Intellectual Property
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Although the Company has filed patent applications with respect to certain aspects of its technology, it generally does not rely on patent
protection with respect to its products and technologies. Instead, the Company relies primarily on a combination of trade secret and copyright
law, employee and third-party nondisclosure agreements and other protective measures to protect intellectual property rights pertaining to its
products and technologies. Because of the rapid pace of technological change in the 3D medical imaging industry, the Company believes that
patent, trade secret and copyright protection are less significant to its competitive position than factors such as the knowledge, ability and
experience of its personnel; new product developments and enhancements; and ongoing, reliable product maintenance and support.

The Company has been issued Patent No. 5,986,662 from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for its mechanism for automated protocol
selection. The use of automated protocol selection within Vitrea 2 allows the user to view image data in two or three dimensions using
visualization settings based on specific clinical applications stored within the software. This unique technology adds significantly to the
simplicity of use of the software a key advantage over competing technologies. The Company has been issued Patent No. 6,130,671 for the
mechanism to calculate simulated lighting in 3D images. The mechanism for calculating simulated lighting in 3D images permits two-sided
lighting in volume-rendered images, which is crucial for viewing image data that represents edges of bright as well as dark regions. These
include producing simulated endoscopic images of contrast-filled blood vessels, the gastrointestinal tract and the urinary system. The Company
has been issued Patent No. 6,219,059 for the user interface and mechanism used to control the relative transparency of 3D data in volume
renderings of medical images. Volume rendering is an advanced technique for displaying two- or three-dimensional views on a computer
screen. It permits the direct display of all of the imaging data without mathematical modeling and allows interactive control of the level of
transparency of the data. All of the patents listed above are utilized in the Vitrea 2 software.

The Company does not own all of the software and other technologies used in its products, but it has the licenses from third parties that the
Company believes are necessary for using that technology in its current products. It may be necessary to renegotiate with such third parties for
any new versions of current products or any new products. Such third party licenses may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all.

Manufacturing and Service

The Company s manufacturing efforts are limited to the production, quality assurance and distribution of its software, which is distributed on
CD-ROM. The software is sent to the customer site and loaded into a
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personal computer. The software for Vitrea 2 is loaded into the computer by Company personnel, as part of the Company s installation services,
which are priced and billed incrementally to the software license billing, or by an authorized reseller s personnel as part of their installation
services. In addition to the loading of software into the computer, installation services generally include integrating Vitrea 2 workstations into
customers computer networks, configuring the network requirements and verifying software operability on site.

The Company relies primarily on its own software development as its core competence. The Company sources certain application and utility
software from third parties, see  Intellectual Property above, and the operating system for integrated computer workstations from other parties. In
addition, the Company sources systems components, computers and computer peripherals from third party suppliers.

The Company has also signed reseller distribution agreements that allow it to distribute products from certain third parties. The Company
currently has agreements with R2 Technology, Inc. for R2 s ImageChecker® CT software applications for the detection of lung nodules and
Mindways Software, Inc. for Mindways QCT PRO BMD software for measuring bone density.

Governmental Regulation

As medical devices, the Company s 3D medical imaging software products are subject to extensive and rigorous regulation by numerous
governmental authorities, principally the FDA and corresponding foreign agencies. In the United States, the FDA administers the Federal Food,
Drug and Cosmetic Act and its amendments. These regulations classify medical devices as either Class I, II or III devices, which are subject to
general controls, special controls or pre-market approval requirements, respectively. Most Class I and II devices, as well as some Class III
devices, can be cleared for marketing pursuant to a 510(k) pre-market notification. The process of obtaining a 510(k) clearance typically can
take several months to a year or longer.

Class III devices generally require more stringent clinical investigation and pre-market clearance requirements. In such cases, the FDA will
require that the manufacturer submit a pre-market approval ( PMA ) application that must be reviewed and approved by the FDA prior to the sale
and marketing of the device in the United States. The process of obtaining a PMA can be expensive, uncertain and lengthy, frequently requiring
anywhere from one to several years from the date of FDA submission, if approval is obtained at all. Moreover, a PMA, if granted, may include
significant limitations on the indicated uses for which a product may be marketed.

Vitrea 2 is classified as a Class II medical device and has received marketing clearance from the FDA as the result of a
510(k) submission. Specifically, Vitrea 2 has been cleared to be marketed for use with CT and MR scanners, the
Company s VScore software options have been cleared for use in coronary artery calcium scoring and the Company s
CT Brain Perfusion option has been cleared for analyzing the blood flow of stroke victims. Future products, add-on
options to existing software, and expanded claims of efficacy will likely require additional 510(k) applications.

In the early 1990s, the review time by the FDA to clear medical devices for commercial release lengthened and the number of clearances, both
of 510(k) submissions and PMAs, decreased. In response to public and congressional concern, the FDA Modernization Act of 1997 was
adopted with the intent of bringing better definition to the clearance process. Although this Act has resulted in improved cycle times for product
clearance, there can be no assurance that the FDA review process will not involve delays or that certain clearances will be granted on a timely
basis.
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The Company is also increasingly becoming subject to regulation in those foreign countries in which it sells its products. Many of the

regulations applicable to the Company s products in such countries are similar to those of the FDA. The Company s ability to successfully market
and sell its products internationally depends in large part on its ability to comply with such foreign regulatory requirements. Vitrea 2 software

has been
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Conformitee Europeene ( CE ) marked, indicating conformance with applicable sections of the Medical Device Directive 93/42/EEC, which
allows the product to be marketed in the member countries of the European Communities.

The Company is also subject to periodic inspections by the FDA, whose primary purpose is to audit the Company s compliance with quality
system regulations established by the FDA and other applicable government standards. Regulatory action may be initiated in response to audit
deficiencies or to product performance problems. The Company believes that its manufacturing and quality control procedures are in essential
compliance with the requirements of the FDA regulations.

In January 2001, the Company announced that it had received ISO 9001 Certification and an upgraded Class I Measurement CE Mark for its
medical imaging software products.

The financial arrangements through which the Company markets, sells and distributes its products may be subject to certain federal and state
laws and regulations in the United States with respect to the provision of services or products to patients who are Medicare or Medicaid
beneficiaries. Violations of these laws and regulations may result in civil and criminal penalties, including substantial fines and imprisonment.
In a number of states, the scope of these laws and regulations have been extended to include the provision of services or products to all patients,
regardless of the source of payment, although there is variation from state to state as to the exact provisions of such laws or regulations. In other
states and, on a national level, several health care reform initiatives have been proposed which would have a similar impact. The Company
believes that its operations and its marketing, sales and distribution practices currently comply with all current fraud and abuse and physician
anti-referral laws and regulations, to the extent they are applicable.

Third Party Reimbursement and Cost Containment

The Company s products are purchased primarily by hospitals, clinics, imaging centers and other users that bill various third party payers for the
services provided to the patients. These payers, which include Medicare, Medicaid, private insurance companies and managed care
organizations, reimburse part or all of the costs and fees associated with the procedures utilizing the Company s products. The medical imaging
services performed using the Company s software are covered by current CPT codes (Current Procedural Terminology, as defined by the Centers
for Medicare & Medicaid Services). As such, hospitals providing services on the Company s 3D medical imaging workstations can seek
reimbursement by using existing, approved CPT codes. Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement for hospitals is based on a fixed amount for
admitting a patient with a specific diagnosis. Because of this fixed reimbursement method, hospitals have incentives to use less costly methods
in treating Medicare and Medicaid patients, and will frequently make capital expenditures to take advantage of less costly treatment
technologies. Frequently, reimbursement is reduced to reflect the availability of a new procedure or technique and, as a result, hospitals are
generally willing to implement new cost-saving technologies before these downward adjustments take effect. Likewise, because the rate of
reimbursement for certain physicians who perform certain procedures has been, and may in the future, be reduced in the event of changes in the
resource-based relative value scale method of payment calculation, physicians may seek greater cost efficiency in treatment to minimize any
negative impact of reduced reimbursement. Any amendments to existing reimbursement rules and regulations which restrict or terminate the
reimbursement eligibility (or the extent or amount of coverage) of medical procedures using the Company s products or the eligibility (or the
extent or amount of coverage) of the Company s products could have a material adverse impact on business.

In response to the focus of national attention on rising health care costs, a number of changes to reduce costs have been proposed or have begun
to emerge. There have been, and may continue to be, proposals by legislators and regulators and third party payers to reduce these costs. There
has also been a significant increase in the number of Americans enrolling in some form of managed care plan and, in addition, many hospitals
participate in or have agreements with HMOs. It has become a typical practice for hospitals to affiliate themselves with as many managed care
plans as possible. Higher managed care penetration typically
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drives down the prices of healthcare procedures, which in turn places pressure on medical supply prices. This causes hospitals to implement
tighter vendor selection and certification processes by reducing the number of vendors used, purchasing more products from fewer vendors and
trading discounts on price for guaranteed higher volumes to vendors. Hospitals have also sought to control and reduce costs over the last decade
by joining group purchasing organizations or purchasing alliances. The Company cannot predict what continuing or future impact these
practices, the existing or proposed legislation, or such third party payer measures may have on its future business.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 ( HIPAA )

The HIPAA regulations are causing customers of the Company to request that the Company sign business associate agreements with them. A

business associate is a person or entity that performs certain functions or activities that involve the use or disclosure of protected health
information on behalf of, or provides services to, a covered entity. By law, the HIPAA Privacy Rule applies only to covered entities health
plans, health care clearinghouses, and certain health care providers. However, most health care providers do not carry out all of their health care
activities and functions by themselves. Instead, they often use the services of a variety of other persons or businesses. The Privacy Rule allows
covered providers and health plans to disclose protected health information to these business associates if the providers or plans obtain
satisfactory assurances that the business associate will use the information only for the purposes for which it was engaged by the covered entity,
will safeguard the information from misuse, and will help the covered entity comply with some of the covered entity s duties under the Privacy
Rule. Covered entities may disclose protected health information to an entity in its role as a business associate only to help the covered entity
carry out its health care functions not for the business associate s independent use or purposes, except as needed for the proper management and
administration of the business associate.

Employees

As of February 28, 2003, the Company had 105 full-time employees, with 35 involved in research and development, 33 in sales and marketing,
18 in technical support functions for maintenance and services and 19 in administrative functions. The Company is not a party to any collective
bargaining agreement involving its employees and believes its relationship with its employees is good.

Important Factors

The following factors are important and should be considered carefully in connection with any evaluation of the Company s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. Additionally, the following factors could cause the Company s actual results to materially differ
from those reflected in any forward-looking statements of the Company.

Historical Operating Losses

For the year ended December 31, 2002 the Company had operating income of $677,000. The Company had operating losses of $1,055,000 and
$2,787,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and, with the exceptions of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002
and October 31, 1995, has incurred operating losses each year since 1990. As of December 31, 2002, the Company s accumulated deficit was
$20,088,000. The Company s ability to maintain annual profitability will depend on, among other things, its ability to successfully market its
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products, make new product offerings, respond to competitive developments and attract and retain qualified sales, technical and management
employees. There can be no assurance that the Company will continue to achieve profitable operations on an annual basis. See Item 7.
Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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New Product Acceptance

The Company s success depends on its ability to successfully market its Vitrea 2 software for clinical use, and the ability and willingness of
physicians to use two- and three-dimensional medical imaging software in disease screening, clinical diagnosis and therapy planning and other
diagnosis, surgical, and treatment protocols. The three-dimensional medical imaging software offered by Vitrea 2 represents a new alternative to
the conventional methods traditionally used for viewing medical images in the clinical setting. The acceptance of Vitrea 2 by physicians and
other clinicians will depend on the Company s ability to educate those users as to the speed, ease-of-use and other benefits offered by the Vitrea 2
system, as well as the timely introduction of new features and functions by the Company. There can be no assurance that users will prefer
three-dimensional medical imaging software over less expensive two-dimensional medical imaging software, or that the Company will succeed

in its efforts to further develop, commercialize, and achieve market acceptance for its Vitrea 2 product or for any other product in the clinical
setting. See Business Technology, Industry Background, Markets and  Competition.

Substantial Reliance on a Single Product

Revenue from sales of the Vitrea 2 system constituted 98% of the Company s total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002, 96% of the
Company s total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 and 96% of the Company s total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2000.
Further, the Company anticipates that revenue from the sale of Vitrea 2 will continue to account for a substantial portion of the Company s
revenue for the foreseeable future. As such, the failure of physicians to accept Vitrea 2 would have a material adverse impact on the Company s
results of operations and financial condition.

Dependence on Market Growth

The 3D medical imaging industry in which the Company markets its products is still developing due to the fairly recent availability of high
performance computers at reduced prices, the recent adoption of industry standards for the generation, transmission and storage of medical
imaging data, and changing medical practices. Historically, there has been a perception that three-dimensional imaging was too slow or difficult
for clinical use. This perception was due largely to the relatively slower processing speed of workstations available in the past. Although the
Company believes that the recent advances in the affordability of high performance computers and in the development of industry standards for
the generation, transmission, and storage of imaging data will provide opportunities for growth in the 3D medical imaging industry, given the
uncertainties associated with the developing stage of this industry, there can be no assurance that it will continue to develop in the manner
anticipated by the Company. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the 3D medical imaging industry will provide growth opportunities for
the Company and its software products or that the Company s business strategies will be successful as the 3D medical imaging industry continues
to evolve. Ultimately, if the 3D medical imaging industry fails to develop as the Company expects, the Company s business, results of operations
and financial condition will be materially and adversely affected.

Need for Additional Capital

If the Company s operations progress as anticipated, of which there can be no assurance, the Company believes that its existing cash balances,
together with cash flows from operations, should be sufficient to satisfy its cash requirements for at least the next 12 months.
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The timing of the Company s future capital requirements will depend on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the ability of Vital
Images to successfully market its products; the ability and willingness of physicians to use two- and three-dimensional medical imaging software
in disease screening, clinical diagnosis and therapy planning and other diagnosis, surgical, and treatment protocols; the impact of competition in
the 3D medical imaging business; the ability of the Company to differentiate its products from competing products; the capital equipment budget
constraints of some potential purchasers; the ability of the Company to
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build an effective sales and distribution force; and the ability to enhance existing products and develop new products on a timely basis. To the
extent that the Company s operations do not progress as anticipated, additional capital may be required. There can be no assurance that any
required additional capital will be available on acceptable terms, or at all, and the failure to obtain any such required capital would have a
material adverse effect on Vital Images business. The issuance of additional equity securities may result in dilution of current shareholder
voting and ownership interests. See Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Highly Competitive Industry

The Company faces intense competition in the 3D medical imaging industry. The Company expects technology to continue to develop rapidly,
and the Company s success will depend to a large extent on its ability to maintain a competitive position with its products. Companies competing
with the Company in the 3D medical imaging industry include large, established manufacturers of CT and MR imaging equipment. Companies
such as GE Medical Systems, Siemens Medical Systems, Inc. and Philips Medical Systems typically offer their own medical imaging software
and workstations as part of their integrated imaging and scanner systems. The Company s ability to successfully market and sell its current 3D
medical imaging products to prospective customers depends, in part, on its ability to persuade such customers to separate the purchase of CT or
MR equipment from the selection and purchase of 3D medical imaging workstations. In addition to having significantly greater capital and
staffing resources for research and development that are critical to success in the rapidly changing 3D medical imaging industry, such companies
also have well-established marketing and distribution networks and have a competitive advantage in marketing 3D medical imaging tools as an
integrated part of their imaging products. While price has been less significant than other factors, increasing competition may result in price
reductions and reduced gross margins. Additionally, the Company faces competition from other entities, such as other software suppliers,
information storage and retrieval vendors, hospital, radiology and clinical systems suppliers and internal development projects sponsored by
hospital radiology departments. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to compete effectively with such manufacturers or
competing entities. See Business Technology, Industry Background and  Competition.

Risk of Technological Obsolescence

The 3D medical imaging market is characterized by rapid innovation and technological change. There can be no assurance that the Company
will be able to compete effectively in the marketplace or that products developed by its competitors will not render its products obsolete or
non-competitive. Similarly, there can be no assurance that the Company s competitors will not succeed in developing or marketing products that
are viewed as providing superior clinical performance or are less expensive than the Company s products currently marketed or to be developed.

Dependence on Major Customers

One of the Company s principal distribution channels is to sell its Vitrea 2 medical imaging software for inclusion with the delivery of medical
imaging equipment being sold by Toshiba Corporation, Medical Systems Company ( Toshiba ). Sales by the Company to Toshiba accounted for
approximately 34%, 27% and 27% of the Company s total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Management believes a limited number of large customers may continue to account for a significant portion of the Company s revenue during
any given period for the foreseeable future. Except for its marketing and distribution agreements with Toshiba, Medtronic SNT and E-Z-EM,
Inc., the Company currently has no long-term purchase or other agreements with any of its customers and sales are generally made pursuant to
purchase orders. A reduction, delay, or cancellation of orders from one or more of its significant customers likely would have a material adverse
effect on the Company s operating results. See Business-Marketing and Distribution.
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Impact of Purchase Commitments

In November 2002, the Company entered into an agreement with R2 Technology, Inc. ( R2 ) to distribute R2 s lung nodule CAD software product
( lung CAD Product ) in conjunction with the Company s products. Upon the later of either the date on which R2 is able to meet CE certification
requirements and produce a Declaration of Conformance for the lung CAD product or the completion of the milestones in the development plan
with respect to the lung CAD product that will be distributed in Europe, the Company is required to begin purchasing the lung CAD product

over the next three years. The total purchase commitment will be to a maximum of $5.6 million worth of product over the three-year

commitment period. The purchase commitment price the Company has to pay will be reduced if the selling price of the lung CAD product when
sold directly to end-users by R2 falls below a specified price.

Fluctuations in Operating Results

The Company may experience significant fluctuations in future annual and quarterly operating results. If these fluctuations occur, they may
result in volatility in the price of the Company s common stock. Quarterly revenue and operating results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of
factors including, but not limited to, the timing of significant orders, the timing of product enhancements and new product introductions by the
Company, its competitors and its customers, the pricing of the Company s products, changes in customers budgets, and competitive conditions,
many of which are beyond the control of the Company.

Government Regulation

The Company s products are subject to regulation by the FDA and by comparable agencies in foreign countries. In the United States, the FDA
regulates the development, introduction, manufacturing, labeling and record keeping procedures for medical devices, including 3D medical
imaging software and systems. The process of obtaining marketing clearance from the FDA for new products and new applications for existing
products can be time-consuming and expensive. All of the current products actively marketed by the Company have received marketing
clearance from the FDA pursuant to 510(k) pre-market notifications. Vitrea 2 has been approved to be marketed for use with CT and MR
scanners, the Company s VScore options have been approved for use in coronary artery calcium scoring and the Company s CT Brain Perfusion
option has been cleared for analyzing the blood flow of stroke victims. There can be no assurance, however, that clearance will be granted with
respect to future products or enhancements, or that FDA review will not involve delays that would adversely affect the Company s ability to
market such future products or enhancements. In addition, there can be no assurance that future products or enhancements will not be subject to
the more lengthy and expensive pre-market approval process with the FDA.

Even if regulatory approvals to market a product are obtained from the FDA, these approvals may entail limitations on the indicated uses of the
product. Product approvals by the FDA can also be withdrawn due to failure to comply with regulatory standards or the occurrence of
unforeseen problems following initial approval. The FDA could also limit or prevent the distribution of the Company s products and has the
power to require the recall of such products. FDA regulations depend heavily on administrative interpretation, and there can be no assurance
that future interpretations made by the FDA or other regulatory bodies will not adversely affect the Company. The FDA may inspect the
Company and its facilities from time to time to determine whether the Company is in compliance with various regulations relating to
specification, development, documentation, validation, testing, quality control and product labeling. A determination that the Company is in
violation of such regulations could lead to imposition of civil penalties, including fines, product recalls or product seizures and, in extreme cases,
criminal sanctions.
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The Company markets its products both domestically and internationally. International regulatory bodies have established varying regulations
governing product standards, packaging requirements, labeling requirements, import restrictions, tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements.
The inability or failure of the Company to comply with the varying regulations or the imposition of new regulations could restrict its ability to
sell its
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products internationally and could thereby adversely affect the Company s business. See Business Governmental Regulation.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 ( HIPAA )

The HIPAA regulations are causing customers of the Company to request that the Company sign business associate agreements with them. A

business associate is a person or entity that performs certain functions or activities that involve the use or disclosure of protected health
information on behalf of, or provides services to, a covered entity. By law, the HIPAA Privacy Rule applies only to covered entities health
plans, health care clearinghouses, and certain health care providers. However, most health care providers do not carry out all of their health care
activities and functions by themselves. Instead, they often use the services of a variety of other persons or businesses. The Privacy Rule allows
covered providers and health plans to disclose protected health information to these business associates if the providers or plans obtain
satisfactory assurances that the business associate will use the information only for the purposes for which it was engaged by the covered entity,
will safeguard the information from misuse, and will help the covered entity comply with some of the covered entity s duties under the Privacy
Rule. Covered entities may disclose protected health information to an entity in its role as a business associate only to help the covered entity
carry out its health care functions not for the business associate s independent use or purposes, except as needed for the proper management and
administration of the business associate. If the Company is not willing to or is unable to enter into a business associate agreement with current
and potential customers, the customer may not purchase products and services from the Company and this would have a material adverse impact
on the Company s results of operations and financial condition.

Uncertain Protection for Intellectual Property: Possible Claims of Others

Although the Company has filed patent applications with respect to certain aspects of its technology, it generally does not rely on patent
protection with respect to its products and technologies. Instead, the Company relies primarily on a combination of trade secret and copyright
law, employee and third-party nondisclosure agreements and other protective measures to protect intellectual property rights pertaining to its
products and technologies. There can be no assurance that these measures will provide meaningful protection of the Company s trade secrets,
know-how or other intellectual property in the event of any unauthorized use, misappropriation or disclosure or that others will not
independently develop similar technologies or duplicate any technology developed by the Company. In addition, to the extent that any patents
are applied for, there can be no assurance that such applications will result in issued patents or, if issued, that such patents will be held to be
valid or will otherwise be of value. While the Company does not believe that its products and technologies infringe any existing patents or
intellectual property rights of third parties, there can be no assurance that such infringement does not exist. The costs of prosecuting or
defending an intellectual property claim could be substantial and could adversely affect the Company, even if it was ultimately successful in
prosecuting or defending any such claims. If the Company s products or technologies were found to infringe the rights of a third party, the
Company could be required to pay significant damages or license fees or cease production, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
the Company s business. See Business Intellectual Property.

Product Liability Risk: Limited Insurance Coverage

The manufacture and sale of products used in the practice of medicine entail significant risk of product liability claims. While the Company
currently maintains product liability insurance in the amount of $11,000,000 per occurrence and $12,000,000 in total and also maintains errors
and omissions coverage in the amount of $11,000,000 per occurrence and in total, there can be no assurance that its coverage limits will be
adequate to protect the Company from any liabilities it might incur in connection with the sale of its products, or that the Company will be able
to maintain this level of coverage in the future. The Company also may require increased product liability

39



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K/A

21

40



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K/A

coverage as additional products and updates are released. Such insurance is expensive and in the future may not be available on acceptable
terms, if at all. A successful product liability claim or series of such claims against the Company in excess of the Company s insurance coverage
could have a material adverse effect on its business.

Dependence on Key Employee: Need to Hire Additional Personnel

The Company depends upon the continued active participation of Dr. Vincent J. Argiro, its Chief Technology Officer and Founder. Loss of the
services of Dr. Argiro could have a material adverse effect on the Company s future business. Dr. Argiro does not have an employment
agreement with the Company, but he does have a confidentiality and non-competition agreement with the Company. The Company maintains
key person life insurance coverage on Dr. Argiro s life in the amount of $500,000.

The Company s ability to enhance and develop markets for its current products as well as to introduce new products to the marketplace also
depends on its ability to attract and retain qualified scientific and management personnel. The Company competes for such personnel with other
companies, academic institutions, government entities and organizations, many of which have substantially greater capital resources, name
recognition, and research and development capabilities than the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in
recruiting or retaining such personnel. The inability of the Company to recruit and retain such personnel would have a material adverse effect on
the Company s business.

Management of Growth

The execution of the Company s business plan will place increasing demands on the Company s existing management and resources. There can
be no assurance that the Company will be able to effectively manage any expansion of its business, which could have a material adverse effect
on the Company s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Dependence on Third-Party Reimbursement

The Company s products are purchased by hospitals, clinics, imaging centers and other users, which bill various third party payers, such as
government health programs, private health insurance plans, managed care organizations and other similar programs, for the health care goods
and services provided to their patients. There is currently a Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) reimbursement code for procedures that
utilize the Company s products. However, the amount of such reimbursement varies by location and is subject to change. Payers may deny
reimbursement if they determine that a product used in a procedure was not used in accordance with established payer protocol regarding
cost-effective treatment methods or was used for an unapproved indication. Third party payers are increasingly challenging the prices charged
for medical services and, in some instances, have put pressure on service providers to lower their prices or reduce their services. The Company

is unable to predict what changes will be made in the reimbursement methods used by third party healthcare payers. There can be no assurance
that procedures in which the Company s products are used will be considered cost effective by third party payers, that reimbursement for such
procedures will be available or, if available, that payers reimbursement levels will not adversely affect the Company s ability to sell its products
on a profitable basis. In addition, there have been and may continue to be proposals by legislators, regulators and third party payers to curb
further these costs in the future. Failure by hospitals and other users of the Company s products to obtain reimbursement from third party payers,
changes in third party payers policies toward reimbursement for procedures using the Company s products or legislative action could have a
material adverse effect on the Company s business. See Business Third Party Reimbursement and Cost Containment.
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Uncertainty of Health Care Reform

The levels of revenue and profitability of medical technology companies may be affected by the efforts of government and third party payers to
contain or reduce the costs of health care through various means. In the United States there have been, and the Company expects that there will
continue to be, a number of federal,
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state, and private proposals to control health care costs. These proposals may contain measures intended to control public and private spending
on health care as well as to provide universal public access to the health care system. If enacted, these proposals may result in a substantial
restructuring of the health care delivery system. Significant changes in the nation s health care system could have a substantial impact on the
manner in which the Company conducts its business and could have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Possible Issuances of Preferred Stock: Certain Anti-Takeover Considerations

The Company s Articles of Incorporation authorize the Company s Board of Directors, without any action by its shareholders, to establish the
rights and preferences of up to 5,000,000 shares of currently undesignated preferred stock. Such shares of preferred stock could possess voting
and conversion rights, which could adversely affect the voting power of the holders of the common stock and may have the effect of delaying,
deferring or preventing a change in control of the Company. No shares of preferred stock or other senior equity securities are currently

designated and currently there is no plan to designate or to issue any such securities. The Company is also subject to certain anti-takeover
provisions of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act. In addition, the Company has adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (the Rights Agreement )
designed to protect the Company and its shareholders from unsolicited attempts to acquire the Company. These measures may, in certain
circumstances, deter or discourage takeover attempts and other changes in control of the Company not approved by its Board of Directors and
may have a depressive effect on any market for the Company s stock. As a result, the Company s shareholders may lose opportunities to dispose
of their shares at the higher prices typically available in takeover attempts or that may be available under a merger proposal. In addition, these
measures may have the effect of permitting the Company s current directors to retain their positions and place them in a better position to resist
changes that the Company s shareholders may wish to make if they are dissatisfied with the conduct of the Company s business.

No Dividends

The Company has not paid cash dividends on its common stock in the past and does not intend to do so in the foreseeable future.

Limitations on Director Liability

As permitted by Minnesota law, the Company s Articles of Incorporation provide that a director of the Company shall not be personally liable to
the Company or its shareholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, with certain exceptions. These provisions may
discourage shareholders from bringing suit against a director for breach of fiduciary duty and may reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation
brought by shareholders on behalf of the Company against a director. In addition, the Company s Bylaws provide for mandatory indemnification
of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Minnesota law.
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PART II

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended December 31, 2002 is derived from the audited
financial statements of the Company and the notes thereto. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with the Company s
financial statements, including the notes thereto, and Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations, which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(In thousands, except per share data)

For the Years Ended
or As of
December 31,
2002 2001 2000 1999
Restated (1) Restated (1) Restated (1) Restated (1)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue 21,116 15,196  $ 10,628 $ 6,623
Gross margin 14,808 10,723 7,168 4,303
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 9,988 8,420 6,919 5,081
Research and development 4,143 3,358 3,036 2,525
Operating income (loss) 677 (1,055) (2,787) (3,303)
Net income (loss) 790 (1,012) % 2,637) $ (3,218)
Net income (loss) per share-basic 0.09 0.14) $ 039 3 (0.64)
Weighted average common shares
outstanding  basic 8,861 7,075 6,760 5,046
Net income (loss) per share-diluted 0.08 0.14) $ 039 3 (0.64)
Weighted average common shares
outstanding  diluted 9,822 7,075 6,760 5,046
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital 9,219 6,094 $ 2,344 $ 5,409
Total assets 18,827 13,269 7,287 8,666
Long-term debt
Total shareholders equity 11,721 8,051 3,765 6,098

1998
Restated (1)

4,527

2,628

4,280
1,815
(3,467)
(3,209)

(0.66)

4,841

(0.66)

4,841

3,360
5,938

4,134
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(1) The Company has restated its financial statements to (1) change the classification of certain customer

support costs, which had previously been reported as a sales and marketing expense rather than as cost of revenue
maintenance and services, and (2) change the classification of amortization expense related to technology licensed
from a third party, which had, prior to the third quarter of 2003, been reported as research and development expense
rather than as cost of revenue - license fees. The changes in these classifications: (1) increased cost of revenue -
maintenance and services and reduced sales and marketing expense by corresponding amounts and (2) increased cost
of revenue- license fees and reduced research and development expense by corresponding amounts. These changes in
classifications had no effect on the Company s previously reported revenue, operating income, net income (loss) or net
income (loss) per share, nor did the changes in classifications affect the Company s balance sheets or statements of
shareholders equity and cash flows. See Note 13 to the financial statements.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Vital Images develops, markets and supports 3D medical imaging software for use primarily in disease screening, clinical diagnosis and therapy
planning. The Company s software applies proprietary computer graphics and image processing technologies to a wide variety of data supplied

by computed tomography ( CT ) scanners and magnetic resonance ( MR ) imaging devices. Vital Images products allow clinicians to create both
two- and three-dimensional views of human anatomy and to non-invasively navigate within these images to better visualize and understand

internal structures and pathologies. The Company believes that its high-speed visualization technology and customized protocols

cost-effectively bring 3D visualization and analysis into the routine, day-to-day practice of medicine. The Company, which operates in a single
business segment, markets its products to healthcare providers and to manufacturers of diagnostic imaging systems through a direct sales force

in the United States and independent distributors in international markets.

On October 28, 1996, the Board of Directors of Bio-Vascular, Inc. ( Bio-Vascular ), now known as Synovis Life Technologies, Inc., the former
parent company of Vital Images, approved a plan to spin off and establish Vital Images as an independent, publicly-owned company. On May
12, 1997, Bio-Vascular distributed all of the shares of Vital Images to the shareholders of Bio-Vascular, and on that date Vital Images began
operating as an independent public company. All Bio-Vascular shareholders of record as of May 5, 1997 received one share of Vital Images
common stock for each two shares of Bio-Vascular stock held on that date, and cash in lieu of fractional shares. Vital Images common stock is
currently traded on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market under the symbol VTAL.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management s discussion and analysis of its financial position and results of operations are based upon the Company s consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The
preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The following represents those critical accounting
policies and estimates where materially different amounts could be reported under different conditions or using different assumptions.
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Allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts that reflects the Company s
estimate of losses that may result from the uncollectibility of accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is based primarily on an analysis of individual accounts for which the Company has information indicating
the customer may not be able to pay amounts owed to the Company. In these cases, based on the available facts and
circumstances, the Company estimates the amount that will be collected from such customers. The Company also
evaluates the collectibility of our accounts receivable in the aggregate based on factors such as the aging of receivable
amounts, customer concentrations, historical experience, and current economic trends and conditions. The allowance
for doubtful accounts is adjusted when additional information is received that impacts the amount reserved. If
circumstances change, the Company s estimates of the recoverability of accounts receivable could be reduced or
increased by a material amount. Such a change in estimated recoverability would be accounted for in the period in
which the facts that give rise to the change become known. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had an allowance
for doubtful accounts of $240,000.

Deferred tax asset. ' The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax asset to the amount that is
more likely than not to be realized. Presently the Company maintains a valuation allowance to offset all of its net
deferred tax asset. While the Company has considered future taxable income in assessing the need for the valuation
allowance, in the event the Company were to determine that it would be able to realize its deferred tax asset in the
future in excess of its net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset
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would increase income in the period such a determination was made and such a determination will become more likely if the Company
continues to generate income. Likewise, should the Company determine that it would not be able to realize all or part of its net deferred tax
asset in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would be charged to income in the period such a determination was made. As of
December 31, 2002, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets of $8,598,000. Despite the full valuation
allowance, the income tax benefits related to these deferred tax assets will remain available to offset future taxable income.

Long-Lived Assets. The Company periodically reviews the carrying amounts of property and equipment and intangible
assets purchased in the normal course of business to determine whether current events or circumstances, as defined in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, warrant adjustments to such carrying amounts. In reviewing the carrying values of property and equipment
and intangible assets purchased in the normal course of business, the Company considers, among other things, the
future cash flows expected from the use of the asset. To the extent these estimated cash flows significantly change, an
impairment would be identified.

Revenue Recognition. The Company licenses its software and sells products and services to end-users and also indirectly
through OEMs and independent distributors. Terms offered by the Company do not differ based on whether the
customer is an end-user, OEM or independent distributor. The Company offers terms that require payment within 30
to 90 days after product delivery. The Company does not offer rights of return, acceptance clauses or price protection
to its customers.

License fees revenue is derived from the licensing of computer software. Hardware revenue is derived from the sale of system hardware,
including peripheral equipment. Maintenance and service revenue is derived from hardware and software maintenance and from services
consisting of installation, training and engineering services. The Company s software licenses are always sold as part of an arrangement that
includes a maintenance arrangement and often installation and training services. The Company generally sells hardware as part of a system sale,
which includes a software license and often installation and training services. Occasionally, the Company sells hardware as part of a system
upgrade or additional product sale. Engineering services consist of software modification or development services that are sold separately to
OEMs.

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position ( SOP ) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended
by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9, as well as Technical Practice Aids issued from time to time by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101. The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The
Company considers revenue realized or realizable and earned when it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product has been shipped
or the services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is probable.

The Company evaluates the credit worthiness of all customers. In circumstances where the Company does not have experience selling to a
customer and lacks adequate credit information to conclude collection is probable, revenue is deferred until the arrangement fees are collected
and all other revenue recognition criteria in the arrangement have been met.

In addition to the aforementioned general policy, the following are the specific revenue recognition policies for services and multiple-element
arrangements.
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Software and Hardware
Revenue from license fees and hardware is recognized when shipment of the product has occurred, no significant Company obligations with

regard to implementation remain and the Company s services are not considered essential to the functionality of other elements of the
arrangement. See also ~ Multiple Element Arrangements below for further information.
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Services

Revenue from maintenance arrangements is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance arrangements.

Revenue from training and installation services is recognized as the services are provided to customers.

Revenue from engineering services, where the Company is performing significant customization or modification of software, is recognized
using contract accounting on a percentage-of-completion basis. The Company records revenue by reference to actual hours incurred to date and
the estimated hours remaining to complete the services.

Multiple-Element Arrangements

The Company enters into arrangements with customers that include a combination of software products, system hardware, specified upgrades,
maintenance or installation and training services. For such arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue using the residual value method.
The Company allocates the total arrangement fee among each deliverable element of the arrangement based on the relative fair value of each of
the deliverable elements determined based on vendor-specific objective evidence. The fair value of maintenance services is based upon the
renewal rate for continued service arrangements. The fair value of installation and training services is established based upon separate pricing
for the services. In software arrangements for which the Company does not have vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value for all
elements, revenue is deferred until the earlier of when vendor-specific objective evidence is determined for the undelivered elements (residual
method) or when all elements have been delivered.

Expense Restatement Change in Classifications

Vital Images has restated its financial statements to (1) change the classification of certain customer support costs, which had previously been
reported as a sales and marketing expense rather than as a cost of revenue maintenance and services, and (2) change the classification of
amortization expense related to technology licensed from a third party, which had, prior to the third quarter of 2003, been reported as research

and development expense rather than as cost of revenue - license fees. The Company has made the appropriate modifications to the statements

of operations to give effect to these changes in classification. The changes in these classifications: (1) increased cost of revenue - maintenance
and services and reduced sales and marketing expense by corresponding amounts and (2) increased cost of revenue - license fees and reduced
research and development expense by corresponding amounts. The changes in classifications had no effect on the Company s previously reported
revenue, operating income, net income (loss) or net income (loss) per share, nor did the changes in classifications affect the Company s balance
sheets or statements of shareholders equity and cash flows. See Note 13 of the accompanying notes to the financial statements for the amounts of
these changes in classifications.

Revenue

Total revenue increased 39% to $21,116,000 in 2002 from total revenue of $15,196,000 in 2001. Total revenue increased 43% to $15,196,000
in 2001 compared with $10,628,000 in 2000. The revenue growth was driven by the increase in the Company s core revenue components of
software license fees and maintenance and service revenue. License fee revenue increased 41% to $14,212,000 in 2002 from $10,083,000 in

2001. The increase in software license fee revenue was driven primarily by an increase in the number of Vitrea® 2 licenses sold and an
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increase in the number of Vitrea add-on options sold. License fee revenue increased 43% to $10,083,000 in 2001
from $7,037,000 in 2000. The increase in software license fee revenue was driven by an increase in the number of
Vitrea® 2 licenses sold as well as an increase in the number of Vitrea add-on options sold.

Maintenance and services revenue increased 64% to $4,019,000 in 2002 from $2,450,000 in 2001 and increased 74% to $2,450,000 in 2001
from $1,412,000 in 2000. The increases were primarily due to increases
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in maintenance revenue as the Company added new customers to the installed base and increases in training revenue due to an increase in the
number of training sessions sold with customer purchases of software and add-on options. The Company recorded an additional $400,000 in
service revenue in 2002 to integrate certain Company technology into image-guided surgery products for Surgical Navigation Technologies,
Inc., a division of Medtronic, Inc. and $60,000 from Toshiba Corporation, Medical Systems Group ( Toshiba ) for the development of a 3D
Angiography option. The Company recorded an additional $348,000 in service revenue in 2001 for the development of a CT colonography
product, InnerviewGI , for E-Z-EM, Inc.

Hardware revenue increased 8% to $2,885,000 in 2002 from $2,663,000 in 2001 and increased 22% to $2,663,000 in 2001 from $2,179,000 in
2000. The increase in hardware revenue was primarily due to an increase in the number of hardware systems sold with the Vitrea software
licenses. The hardware revenue growth was lower in 2002 than in 2001 due to a change in the sales model with Toshiba America Medical
Systems, Inc. ( TAMS ). Prior to the third quarter of 2001, all of the Company s sales to TAMS were complete systems sales. Beginning in the
third quarter of 2001, most of the revenue resulting from sales to TAMS was derived from software-only sales, which generate higher margins
than complete system sales.

The Company had a license agreement with Paradigm Geophysical Corporation ( Paradigm ), which expired in January 2001. Revenue received
under the license agreement with Paradigm was $106,000 and $210,000 in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Gross Margin

The Company s gross margin percentage was 70% in 2002, down slightly from 71% in 2001. The gross margin percentage was 67% in 2000.
The decrease in margin in 2002 compared to 2001 was due to increasing costs for customer support resulting from the Company s growth, which
was partially offset by the favorable impact of sales mix. Revenue in 2002 included more of higher margin software license fee revenue and less
of lower margin hardware revenue than in 2001. The number of customer support employees increased from 11 at December 31, 2001 to 17 at
December 31, 2002. The increase in margin in 2001 compared to 2000 was due to the favorable impact of sales mix, which included more of
higher margin software license fee revenue than in 2000.

The Vitrea 2 system, consisting of Vitrea 2 software and third-party hardware and peripherals, is designed to offer end users an integrated 3D
medical imaging system. The Company receives a nominal discount in purchasing the third-party hardware and peripheral components of the
Vitrea 2 system, and the Company s gross margin on the resale of these system components approximates its discount. The Company anticipates
that software license fee revenue as a percentage of the Company s total revenue will increase modestly in future periods and, therefore,
management believes the overall gross margin percentage will increase modestly in future periods.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were $6,795,000, or 32% of total revenue, $5,761,000, or 38% of total revenue and $4,709,000, or 44% of total
revenue, for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increases in sales and marketing expenses from 2001 to 2002 and 2000 to 2001 were
primarily due to increased compensation costs as a result of additional personnel and increased sales commissions as a result of increased
revenue. Tradeshow and marketing costs increased from 2001 to 2002, primarily due to the Company purchasing more space at tradeshows and
attending additional tradeshows. Depreciation expense increased in 2001 as compared with 2000, primarily due to equipment purchases used for
the additional personnel, upgrades of computer equipment and equipment for tradeshows. During these periods, sales and marketing expenses as
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a percentage of revenue declined primarily due to the Company s ability to generate revenue growth without proportionately increasing sales and
marketing costs. The Company expects sales and marketing costs to
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increase in future periods primarily as a result of the cost of additional sales and marketing personnel and management expects sales and
marketing expenses to increase as a percentage of total revenue in 2003.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses were up 23% to $4,143,000, or 20% of total revenue in 2002, from $3,359,000, or 22% of total revenue, in
2001. In addition, $211,000 of expenses were classified in cost of revenue during 2002 in connection with engineering services provided to
others under various product development agreements. The increase in expenses from 2001 to 2002 was primarily due to increased
compensation costs resulting from additional personnel supporting the development of Vitrea 2. Research and development expenses were up
13% to $3,359,000, or 22% of total revenue in 2001, from $3,036,000, or 29% of total revenue, in 2000. The increase was primarily due to
increased compensation costs resulting from additional personnel supporting the development of Vitrea 2 and increases in expenses to support
clinical collaboration sites. There were also consecutive increases in annual depreciation expense between 2000 and 2002, primarily as the
result of equipment purchases to support the additional personnel and to upgrade computer equipment. The decreases in research and
development expenses as a percentage of revenue during these periods reflect the Company s ability to generate increased revenue more rapidly
than it increases its product development costs. The Company anticipates that research and development costs will increase in future periods as
the Company develops software tools for applications with large potential markets, such as cardiovascular disease, disease screening
applications such as colon cancer, and surgical and therapy planning. However, management expects research and development costs to decline
as a percentage of total revenue in 2003.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $3,193,000, or 15% of total revenue, $2,658,000, or 17% of total revenue and $2,210,000, or 21% of
total revenue, in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase from 2001 to 2002 was primarily due to severance costs of $230,000 for the
Company s former chief executive officer, higher insurance costs due to the growth of the Company as well as premium rate increases, an
increase in consulting fees and increased travel costs related to investor relations and business development. The increase from 2000 to 2001
was primarily due to compensation costs increasing due to additional personnel and increases in professional fees incurred in establishing
partnering agreements. The decreases in general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue during these periods reflect the
Company s ability to limit operating costs while increasing revenue. The Company believes that general and administrative expenses will
increase in future periods due to increased infrastructure costs as the business grows, but that they will continue to decrease as a percentage of
total revenue in 2003.

Operating Income (Loss)

The increasing revenue from Vitrea 2 and add-on software options and related service revenues, net of the increased expenses attributable to the
development of the Company s infrastructure and the development and promotion of the Vitrea 2 product, resulted in an operating income of
$677,000 for 2002 compared with an operating loss of $1,055,000 for 2001 and an operating loss of $2,787,000 for 2000.

Interest Income
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There was $135,000 of interest income for 2002, compared with $55,000 in 2001 and $162,000 in 2000. The increase in interest income from
2001 to 2002 was primarily due to an increase in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. The increase in cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities was primarily due to the exercise of warrants for the purchase of common stock, which generated approximately
$1,725,000 and $4,490,000 in proceeds for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in interest income from
2000 to 2001 was primarily due to a lower balance of cash and cash equivalents throughout the year as a result of the use of cash to fund the
Company s operations.
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Income Taxes

The income tax provisions for 2002, 2001 and 2000 consist solely of certain state minimum fees. As a result of the Company s history of
generating net operating losses, the Company has established a valuation allowance to completely reserve for the deferred tax asset of the
Company. The Company continues to monitor realizability of the benefits related to its net deferred tax asset. To the extent management
estimates that realization of this benefit is more likely than not based upon expected future taxable income, part or all of the valuation will be
reversed. Such a reversal would result in an income tax benefit in the period of reversal.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had $8,123,000 in cash and cash equivalents, working capital of $9,219,000 and no borrowings.

Cash provided by operations was $2,437,000 for 2002 compared with cash provided by operations of $771,000 for 2001 and cash used in
operations of $1,961,000 for 2000. The primary sources of cash from operations for 2002 were net income, an increase in deferred revenue and
non-cash expenses for depreciation and amortization. The primary sources of cash from operations for 2001 was an increase in deferred revenue
and accrued payroll and other liabilities and non-cash expenses for depreciation and amortization, which was partially offset by cash flow usages
to fund operating losses. Cash flow usages for 2000 were primarily to fund operating losses, which were partially offset by non-cash expenses
for depreciation and amortization. Increases in accounts receivable reduced cash flows in each of the years 2002, 2001 and 2000. Increases in
deferred revenue and accrued expenses and other liabilities resulted in increased cash flows in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

The increases in deferred revenue for 2002, 2001 and 2000 were primarily due to volume increases in Vitrea 2 sales and renewals of annual
maintenance. The increases in accounts receivable for 2002, 2001 and 2000 were due primarily to volume increases in Vitrea 2 sales. The
increases in accrued payroll and other liabilities in 2002 and 2001 were primarily due to increases in incentive bonuses and sales commissions
directly related to increased revenue and profitability. The increases in accrued payroll and other liabilities in 2000 were primarily due to
increases in accrued vacation due to increases in headcount and in sales commissions as a result of increased revenue.

The Company used $4,008,000 of cash in investing activities in 2002, of which $1,500,000 was used for purchases of property and equipment,
primarily for new computer equipment. The purchases were primarily to upgrade computer equipment and to purchase computer equipment for
new personnel. Capital expenditures in 2002 also included leasehold improvements for a new training facility. The Company spent $8,047,000
to purchase investments in marketable securities and received $5,539,000 of proceeds from maturities of marketable securities during 2002. The
marketable securities are invested in U.S. government obligations, U.S. government agency obligations, corporate commercial obligations and
certificates of deposits. The Company used $1,519,000 of cash in investing activities in 2001, of which $769,000 was used for purchases of
property and equipment, primarily for new computer equipment. In addition, the Company entered into an agreement during 2001 to license
technology from a third party and paid $750,000 to the licensor. The Company used $1,384,000 of cash in investing activities in 2000 to
purchase property and equipment primarily related to the move to new office facilities in 2000 and equipment for additional personnel.

Cash provided by financing activities totaled $2,862,000, $5,288,000 and $303,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. In December 2001,
the Company called the outstanding warrants issued as part of a private placement of common stock in December 1999. All of the warrant
holders elected to exercise the warrants rather than allowing the Company to redeem them. Purchases of common stock resulting from the
exercise of these stock warrants generated approximately $1,725,000 and $4,491,000 in 2002 and 2001, respectively. During October 2001, the
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Company sold 82,332 shares of newly issued common stock of Vital Images, Inc. to
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E-Z-EM, Inc. for approximately $552,000. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, net cash of $1,137,000, $245,000 and $303,000, respectively, was
provided by proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

The Company has never paid or declared any cash dividends and does not intend to pay dividends in the near future.

The following summarizes our contractual obligations, including purchase commitments at December 31, 2002, and the effect such obligations
are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

2003 2004 2005 2006
Operating leases  $ 385,000 $ 388,000 $ 227,000 $
Purchase commitment(1) $ 840,000 $ 1,750,000 $ 1,960,000 $ 1,050,000
1) Assumes the R2 Technologies, Inc. s lung nodule CAD software product will be available for sale beginning in the third quarter of 2003.

Management believes that its cash and cash equivalents should be sufficient to satisfy the Company s cash requirements for at least the next 12
months.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Substantially all of the Company s foreign transactions are negotiated, invoiced and paid in U.S. dollars.

Inflation

Management believes inflation has not had a material effect on the Company s operations or on its financial condition.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
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In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board approved Statements of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 141, Business
Combinations, and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The statements eliminate the pooling-of-interests method of accounting for
business combinations and require that goodwill and certain intangible assets not be amortized. Instead, these assets will be reviewed for
impairment at least annually with any related losses recognized when incurred. SFAS No. 141 was generally effective for business

combinations completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 141
and No. 142 had no impact on the Company s financial position or results of operations.

In October 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.  This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment of long-lived assets and for long-lived assets to be
disposed of and supersedes SFAS No. 121 and APB Opinion No. 30. SFAS No. 144 was effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2002.
The adoption of SFAS No. 144 had no impact on the Company s financial position or results of operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, which replaces Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). SFAS No. 146 requires companies to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal
activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or
disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company will apply this standard to exit and disposal activities initiated after
December 31, 2002.
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In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation = Transition Disclosure an amendment of SFAS
No. 123.  This Statement amends SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation , to provide alternative methods of transition for a
voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for
stock-based compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. SFAS 148 is effective for fiscal years ending after

December 15, 2002, and disclosure requirements are effective for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2002. Disclosures required by
SFAS 148 are included in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002. The Company will begin making the additional
disclosures required by SFAS 148 in the first quarter of 2003. The Company intends to continue to account for stock-based compensation using

the intrinsic value method prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS 148 will not

impact the Company s financial position or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.  This interpretation elaborates on the disclosures required in financial statements concerning
obligations under certain guarantees. It also clarifies the requirements related to the recognition of liabilities by a guarantor at the inception of
certain guarantees. The disclosure requirements of this interpretation were effective for the Company on December 31, 2002 and, accordingly,
are reflected in the Company s financial statements. The recognition provisions of the interpretation are effective for the Company in 2003 and
are applicable only to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Company does not expect the adoption of this interpretation
to have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. ~ This
interpretation addresses the requirements for business enterprises to consolidate related entities in which they are determined to be the primary
economic beneficiary as a result of their variable economic interests. The interpretation is intended to provide guidance in judging multiple
economic interests in an entity and in determining the primary beneficiary. The interpretation outlines disclosure requirements for VIEs in

existence prior to January 31, 2003, and outlines consolidation requirements for VIEs created after January 31, 2003. The Company does
not expect the adoption of this interpretation to have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K/A contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995 and information that is based on management s beliefs as well as on assumptions made by, and upon information currently available
to, management. When used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A, the words expect, anticipate, intend, plan, believe, seek, and estim
similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. However, this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A also contains other
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties
and assumptions, including, but not limited to, the following factors, which could cause the Company s future results and shareholder values to
differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Company: the dependence on market
growth of the industry in which the Company operates; the extent to which the Company s products gain market acceptance; the need for and
availability of additional capital; the potential for litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights; the introduction of competitive
products by others; dependence on major customers; fluctuations in quarterly results; the progress of product development; the availability of
third party reimbursement; and the receipt and timing of regulatory approvals and other factors detailed from time to time in the Company s
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including those set forth under the heading Important Factors included in Item 1 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Company s financial statements, supplemental schedule and Report of Independent Auditors thereon, all of which are included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A, are listed in Item 15 (a) (1) of this Form 10-K/A.

33

60



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K/A

PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) (1) The following financial statements and supplemental schedule of Vital Images, Inc. and Report of
Independent Auditors thereon are included herein:

Report of Independent Auditors

Balance Sheets as of December 31. 2002 and 2001

Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31. 2002, 2001 and 2000 (Restated)
Statements of Shareholders Equity for the years ended December 31. 2002, 2001 and 2000

Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31. 2002, 2001 and 2000
Notes to Financial Statements

Schedule II. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(a) (2) Included in Item 15 (a) (1) above

All other schedules to the financial statements required by Article 12 of Regulation S-X are not required under the related instructions or
are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.

(@) 3) LISTING OF EXHIBITS

The Exhibits required to be a part of this Report are listed in the Index to Exhibits, which follows the Financial Statement Schedule on
page 58.

(b) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

The Company had no Current Reports on Form 8-K during the year ended December 31, 2002 or during the period from December 31,
2002 to the date of the filing of the original Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(©) EXHIBITS

Included in Item 15 (a) (3) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Amendment to
the Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Minneapolis, Minnesota, on the

2nd day of March 2004.
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By:

VITAL IMAGES, INC.

/s/Gregory S. Furness
Gregory S. Furness
Chief Financial Officer and

Vice President-Finance
(Chief Accounting Officer)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Vital Images, Inc.:

In our opinion, the financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Vital Images, Inc. (the Company) at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related financial statements. These financial statements and
financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 13 to the financial statements, the Company has restated its statements of operations for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2002, to reflect a change in the classification of certain customer support expenses and has restated its statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 to reflect a change in classification of certain amortization expense.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 6, 2003, except Note 13 as to which the date is February 10, 2004
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VITAL IMAGES, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $240,000 and $185,000 as
of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

Licensed technology, net

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued payroll

Deferred revenue

Accrued royalties

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Commitments (Notes 5 and 12)

Shareholders equity:

Preferred stock: $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding
as of December 31, 2002 and 2001

Common stock: $0.01 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; 8,987,009 and 8,186,092
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

As of December 31,

2002

8,122,547
2,508,113

4,971,079
498,692
16,100,431
2,156,835
570,000

18,827,266

757,115
1,486,654
3,870,958

546,593

219,036
6,880,956

225,539
7,106,495

89,870
31,719,371
(20,088,470)
11,720,771

18,827,266

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.)

$

2001

6,830,906

3,637,954
557,833
11,026,693
1,552,116
690,000

13,268,809

864,385
1,326,214
2,199,465

362,637

179,610
4,932,311

285,709
5,218,020

81,861
28,846,906
(20,877,978)

8,050,789

13,268,809
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Revenue:

License fees
Maintenance and services
Hardware

Total revenue

Cost of revenue:

License fees
Maintenance and services
Hardware

Total cost of revenue

Gross margin

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Interest income, net

Income (loss) before income taxes

Income taxes

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) per share  basic

Weighted average common shares outstanding
basic

Net income (loss) per share  diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding
diluted

VITAL IMAGES, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

2002
Restated (Note 13)

$ 14,211,640
4,019,639

2,884,795
21,116,074

1,250,426
2,862,459
2,195,182
6,308,067
14,808,007
6,795,377
4,143,257
3,192,735
14,131,369

676,638

134,870
811,508

22,000

$ 789,508

$ 0.09

8,861,132

$ 0.08

9,821,798

For the Years Ended December 31,

2001
Restated (Note 13)

$ 10,082,897
2,450,037

2,662,702
15,195,636

703,593
1,656,207
2,112,982
4,472,782

10,722,854
5,761,416
3,358,506
2,657,998

11,777,920

(1,055,066)

55,089
(999,977)

12,000

$ (1,011,977)

$ (0.14)

7,074,906

$ (0.14)

7,074,906

2000
Restated (Note 13)

7,037,227
1,411,583

2,179,381
10,628,191

238,775
1,328,679
1,893,075
3,460,529
7,167,662
4,708,604
3,036,016
2,209,999
9,954,619

(2,786,957)

161,726
(2,625,231)

12,000

(2,637,231)

(0.39)

6,760,233

(0.39)

6,760,233
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(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.)
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Balances as of December 31, 1999

Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock under
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Net and comprehensive loss
Balances as of December 31, 2000

Stock-based compensation
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock under
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock warrants

Issuance of common stock (Note 11)
Net and comprehensive loss
Balances as of December 31, 2001

Stock-based compensation
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock under
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock warrants

Net and comprehensive income
Balances as of December 31, 2002
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VITAL IMAGES, INC.

STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Shareholders
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity

6,695,867 $ 66,959 $ 23,260,227 $ (17,228,770) $ 6,098,416
105,650 1,056 216,468 217,524
21,589 216 85,749 85,965
(2,637,231) (2,637,231)

6,823,106 68,231 23,562,444 (19,866,001) 3,764,674
10,447 10,447

49,520 495 153,073 153,568
25,487 255 91,397 91,652
1,205,647 12,057 4,478,744 4,490,801
82,332 823 550,801 551,624
(1,011,977) (1,011,977)

8,186,092 81,861 28,846,906 (20,877,978) 8,050,789
18,279 18,279

288,008 2,880 1,003,321 1,006,201
24,539 245 130,363 130,608
488,370 4,884 1,720,502 1,725,386
789,508 789,508

8,987,009 $ 89,870 $ 31,719,371  $ (20,088,470) $ 11,720,771

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.)
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VITAL IMAGES, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income (loss) $ 789,508 ($1,011,977) ($2,637,231)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 894,814 746,727 718,978
Stock-based compensation 18,279 10,447

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable 64,000 114,000 122,000
Amortization of licensed technology 120,000 60,000

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (1,397,125) (727,655) (1,141,185)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 59,141 (116,333) 21,809
Accounts payable (106,670) (155,513) 188,157
Deferred revenue 1,611,323 1,137,477 414,227
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 383,822 714,136 352,165
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,437,092 771,309 (1,961,080)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Additions to property and equipment (1,499,533) (769,155) (1,384,187)
Payment for licensed technology (750,000)

Purchases of marketable securities (8,047,536)

Sale of marketable securities 5,539,423

Net cash used in investing activities (4,007,646) (1,519,155) (1,384,187)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from sale of common stock 551,624
Proceeds from sale of common stock under stock plans 1,136,809 245,220 303,489
Proceeds from sale of common stock under stock warrants 1,725,386 4,490,801
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,862,195 5,287,645 303,489

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 1,291,641 4,539,799 (3,041,778)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 6,830,906 2,291,107
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